RECEIVED

MAY 15 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF COMMON PLEAS FOR THE
FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Appellate Case No. 2025-002362

John Hamilton and Erin Hamilton.....Appellants,

v.

Connie W. Page, Donna W. Eslick, Albert Jason Watson, Ray K. Watson, Jr., Crystal Darline
Newmon (aka Newman), John K. Sims, Pee Dee Pest Pros, LLC, David McLaurin and David
McLaurin Appraiser, LLC,

of which David McLaurin and David McLauin Appraiser, LLC are the
Respondents.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

Frederick I. Hall, III
The Rick Hall Law Firm, LLC
301 Gibson Road
Lexington, SC 29072

I. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. **The trend of the law in South Carolina is that a professional appraiser is liable to a foreseeable third party for negligent misrepresentation where the third party detrimentally relied upon the appraiser's materially inaccurate and negligent appraisal. The Hamiltons alleged detrimental reliance on the appraisal at issue, which must be assumed to be true for purposes of ruling on a motion to dismiss. Did the lower court err in granting the motion to dismiss?**
- B. **Under South Carolina Law, the failure to follow governmental or industry standards may be a basis for a claim of negligence. The Hamiltons allege that the Defendant appraiser, David McLaurin, did not follow the VA Minimum Property Requirements as required. Did the lower court err in granting the motion to dismiss this claim?**

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the Appellants' (John and Erin Hamilton's) purchase of a home located at 405 Watson Hill Lane in Chesterfield, South Carolina, which they purchased in good faith, after the receipt of an appraisal from a duly licensed and approved Veterans Administration (hereinafter "VA") appraiser, David McLaurin. The appraisal report prepared by David McLaurin reported the subject property to be in overall average to mostly good condition.¹ The Hamiltons, in deciding whether to close on the subject property, relied upon the representations made by McLaurin in the VA appraisal. After closing on June 7, 2023, the Hamiltons discovered many undisclosed defective and deteriorating conditions not included in the VA appraisal. The Hamiltons relied upon the information contained within the McLaurin appraisal to their detriment and incurred damages. The Hamiltons filed their Complaint on January 15, 2024. McLaurin and his LLC filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(B)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure on March 8, 2024. In their Motion to Dismiss filed March 8, 2024, the Respondents, David McLaurin and his appraisal company argued that the Hamiltons' Complaint should be dismissed

¹ Facts contained herein are cited in the Complaint of the underlying cause of action, Civil Action No. 2023-CP-17-00017 at R. pp. 4, 13-15.

on the grounds that the Hamiltons' Complaint failed to state facts sufficient to state a cause of action because the appraisal specifically states it was prepared for the benefit of the lender.

First, the Hamiltons opposed the motion to dismiss based upon the express language contained within the appraisal, which states that the borrower may rely upon the VA appraisal. Secondly, the Hamiltons contend that, as an appraiser, McLaurin owed a duty to them because he possessed a pecuniary interest in the appraisal. And therefore, knew, or should have known, that the Hamiltons - as foreseeable third-party beneficiaries - would rely upon the appraisal in their decision to take out a VA mortgage loan. The Hamiltons, therefore, alleged McLaurin had a duty to exercise reasonable care when making the physical inspection of the property and in the preparation and provision of the appraisal to both the VA and to the borrowers.

The lower court heard the Motion to Dismiss and entered its order on May 22, 2025 (R. p. 230), granting Dismissal. The Hamiltons filed their motion for reconsideration, which was denied by Judge McFaddin on October 28, 2025 (R. p. 235).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, John Hamilton, is a veteran who elected to utilize the benefit of a VA-backed home loan to purchase the property located at 405 Watson Hill Lane, Chesterfield, South Carolina. David McLaurin Appraiser, LLC is a single-member LLC owned and operated by Respondent David McLaurin. R. p. 14, Compl. ¶ 56. VA appraisals are made and performed to protect the interests of both the veteran and the Veterans Administration. R. p. 51, Exhibit D to Complaint. VA appraisals are unique in that there are Minimum Property Requirements ("MPRs") to ensure that the property being mortgaged is safe and structurally sound. *Id.*; see also R. p. 15, Compl. ¶ 59. To obtain a VA loan, a prospective veteran-buyer is required to retain a VA-approved appraiser

to assess the condition of the home and provide an opinion as to the overall value of the home based upon the assessed condition. For this reason, Respondents, David McLaurin and McLaurin Appraiser, LLC, were retained by the mortgage lender on behalf of the Hamilton's and paid for by the Hamilton's. R. p. 14, Compl. ¶ 55.

On or about May 19, 2023, McLaurin inspected the subject property and completed the required VA appraisal report, representing the property to be in "overall average to mostly good condition," assigning a favorable Conditions and Rating score of C3 stating in his report that "I saw no repairs or deferred maintenance." R. p. 51, Ex. D to Compl. McLaurin further represented in the report that "[a]ll utilities were functioning properly" and that "[i]n my opinion, the home meets the minimum property requirements set by the VA." McLaurin assessed the value of the subject property at \$250,000.00. R. p. 14, Compl. ¶ 52. The Hamiltons were provided a copy of the VA appraisal on or about May 19, 2023. *Id.*

On June 7, 2023, the Hamiltons relied upon the VA appraisal to close on the subject property. R. p. 14, Compl. ¶ 56. The express language of the VA report prepared by the Respondents specifically states in part as follows:

23. The borrower, another lender at the request of the borrower, the mortgagee or its successors and assigns, mortgage insurers, government sponsored enterprises, and other secondary market participants **may rely on this appraisal report as part of any mortgage finance transaction that involves any one or more of these parties.** (emphasis added).

R. p. 51, Ex. D to Compl.

The Hamiltons allege in their complaint that they justifiably relied upon the VA appraisal report, which was prepared at their expense as a VA benefit for Appellant John Hamilton's military service. R. p. 14, Compl. ¶ 56.

The Hamiltons discovered defective and deteriorating conditions upon moving into the property, contrary to representations made by the Respondents. R. p. 15, Compl. ¶ 60. The VA appraisal, prepared by David McLaurin, failed to reflect the true condition of the subject property which in reality has many defects, including sloping floors, structural issues, decay, and damage due to termites, electrical issues, etc. *Id.*

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the ‘facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.’ ” *Hager v. McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C.*, 435 S.C. 740, 746, 869 S.E.2d 886, 889 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *219 *Morris*, 381 S.C. at 646, 675 S.E.2d at 433). “If the facts and inferences would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper.” *Id.* citing, *Santos v. Harris Inv. Holdings, LLC*, 439 S.C. 214, 218–19, 886 S.E.2d 483, 485 (Ct. App. 2023), *reh'g denied* (May 15, 2023).

V. ARGUMENT

- A. **The trend of the law in South Carolina is that a professional appraiser is liable to a foreseeable third party for negligent misrepresentation where the third party detrimentally relied upon the professional appraiser’s materially inaccurate and negligent appraisal. The Hamiltons alleged detrimental reliance on the appraisal at issue, which must be assumed to be true for purposes of ruling on a motion to dismiss. The Circuit Court erred in granting the motion to dismiss.**

South Carolina law provides “a duty to exercise reasonable care in giving information exists when the defendant has a pecuniary interest in the transaction.” *Winburn v. Ins. Co. of N.*

Am., 287 S.C. 435, 442, 339 S.E.2d 142, 146 (Ct. App. 1985), citing, RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552 (1977); *cf. Gordon-Gallup Realtors, Inc. v. Cincinnati Insurance Co.*, 274 S.C. 468, 265 S.E.2d 38 (1980); *Lawlor v. Scheper*, 232 S.C. 94, 101 S.E.2d 269 (1957). Sufficient indication of pecuniary interest exists when information is given in the course of the defendant's business, profession, or employment. *Id.*, citing, RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552, Comment d, at 129—30 (1977); *see Prosser and Keaton, The Law of Torts* § 107 at 747 (5th ed. 1984). Additionally, in this state, "a tort-feasor may be subjected to tort liability for injury to a third party arising out of the tort-feasor's contractual relationship with another, despite the absence of privity between the tort-feasor and the third party." *Barker v. Sauls*, 289 S.C. 121, 345 S.E.2d 244 (1986), citing, *Terlinde v. Neely*, 275 S.C. 395, 271 S.E.2d 768 (1980). The liability of the tort-feasor "exists independently of contract, and rests upon tort-feasor's duty to exercise due care." *Id.*, citing, *Edward's of Byrnes Downs v. Charleston Sheet Metal Co., Inc.*, 253 S.C. 537, 172 S.E.2d 120 (1970).

South Carolina jurisprudence, following Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552, establishes liability for supplying false information in the course of a business, profession, or employment, and extends to third parties who are "foreseeable recipients of the information that may either benefit from the information or use the information for guidance" and are thus liable to third-parties for negligent misrepresentation when a third party suffers injury or loss from reliance upon such information. *See Winburn v. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 287 S.C. 435, 339 S.E.2d 142 (Ct. App. 1985); *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 373, 346 S.E.2d 324 (1986); *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund v. Deloitte & Touche*, 320 S.C. 143, 463, S.E.2d 618 (Ct. App. 1995); *Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 765 S.E.2d 132 (2014).

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit found “based upon the trend of South Carolina jurisprudence,” a professional appraiser is liable to a third party for negligent misrepresentation, under South Carolina common law, “in the event the third party detrimentally relied upon the professional appraiser’s materially inaccurate and negligent appraisal,” *Priv. Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc. v. Hotel & Club Assocs., Inc.*, 296 F.3d 308, 310 (4th Cir. 2002). In *Private Mortgage*, Private Mortgage brought a negligent claim against Hotel and Club Associates on the basis that their appraisal as contained in the appraisal report constituted a negligent misrepresentation upon which Private Mortgage reasonably and justifiably relied to its detriment. *Id.* 296 F.3d at 311. On appeal, the Fourth Circuit considered whether, “under South Carolina common law, an exception to the general rule that a negligent misrepresentation must relate to a present or preexisting fact exists when the negligent misrepresentation is the nature of a professional opinion, given by a person who intends it for the guidance of others, and a third party detrimentally relies upon it.” *Id.* 296 F.3d at 313 (4th Cir. 2002).

While the South Carolina Court of Appeals has not spoken directly, the Fourth Circuit noted here that, “[a]ccording to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, ‘the Restatement approach represents the soundest method of determining the scope of an accountant’s duty to third persons for negligent misrepresentation’ because it ‘balances the need to hold accountants to a standard that accounts for their contemporary role in the financial world with the need to protect them from liability that unreasonably exceeds the bounds of their real undertaking.’” *Id.* 296 F.3d at 314, citing, *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund v. Deloitte & Touche* at 627.

On a writ of certiorari in the same case, the South Carolina Supreme Court expressly adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552 standard of liability for the reasons set forth by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. *Id.*, citing, *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund v. Deloitte &*

Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470, 471 n. 3 (S.C. 1997). Based on the South Carolina Supreme Court's ruling in *ML-Lee*, the Fourth Circuit reasoned it was common sense that:

[I]f the South Carolina Supreme Court was comfortable in adopting the Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552 with respect to the liability of a professional accounting firm to a third party in the context of a misrepresentation of fact negligently supplied for the guidance of others, the Court, if presented with the opportunity, would not hesitate to adopt Comment b. to Section 552 with respect to the liability of a professional real estate appraisal firm to a third party in the context of a negligent appraisal of a parcel of real property supplied for the guidance of others.

Priv. Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc. v. Hotel & Club Assocs., Inc., 296 F.3d 308, 314 (4th Cir. 2002). Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552 Comment b provides that “[t]he rule stated in this section applies not only to information given as to the existence of facts but also to an opinion given upon facts equally well known to both the supplier and the recipient.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Fourth Circuit also pointed to the fact that Comment b is the drafters of the Restatement (Second) of Torts' considered explanation of when Section 552 applies to a particular fact pattern as further evidence to support its belief that the South Carolina Supreme Court would not hesitate to adopt comment b. The Fourth Circuit also believed the public policy implications of adopting the approach in the Restatement (Second) of Torts' represented “the soundest method of determining the scope of a professional real estate appraiser's duty to third persons for negligent misrepresentation because it balances the need to hold professional real estate appraisers to a standard that accounts for their contemporary role in the financial world with the need to protect them from liability that unreasonably exceeds the bounds of their real undertaking.” *Priv. Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc.* at 296 F.3d 313-314.

Finally, the Fourth Circuit believed that dicta by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in *AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 420 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 1992), suggested that, if presented with the issue, the South Carolina Supreme Court would adopt Comment b. to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552. *Id.*, citing *AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 420 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 1992). Specifically, in *AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals stated in dicta:

Mere statement of opinion, commendation of goods or services, or expression of confidence that a bargain will be satisfactory does not give rise to liability in tort. . . if the defendant has a pecuniary interest in making the statement and he possesses expertise or special knowledge that would ordinarily make it reasonable for another to rely on his judgment or ability to make careful enquiry, the law places on him a duty of care with respect to representations made to plaintiff.

Id. at 874.

The Fourth Circuit believed this dictum was fully consistent with Comment b to Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552. *Id.* 296 F.3d at 315. Ultimately, the Fourth Circuit held “the South Carolina Supreme Court would adopt Comment b. to Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552 and hold a professional appraiser liable to a third party for negligent misrepresentation under South Carolina common law in the event the third party detrimentally relied upon the professional appraiser’s materially inaccurate and negligent appraisal of the “as is” market value of a parcel of real property.” *Id.*

Other jurisdictions also apply the Restatement (Second) of Torts reasoning in Section 552 to appraisers. *Diloreti v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, No. 5:14-CV-76, 2014 WL 12771142 (N.D.W. Va. Nov. 14, 2014), citing, *Private Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc. v. Hotel & Club Assocs., Inc.*, 296 F.3d 308, 313 – 15 (4th Cir. 2002); *Bryant Bank v. Talmage Kirkland & Co., Inc.*, No. 1130080, 2011 WL 11742121, at *9 (Ala. May 23, 2014). Other jurisdictions have also applied the Restatement (Second) of Torts reasoning in Section 552 in factual scenarios similar to the

facts of the Hamiltons' case against the McLaurin, such as the court in *Schaaf v. Highfield*, 127 Wash. 2d 17, 896 P.2d 665 (1995). In *Schaaf v. Highfield*, the Supreme Court of Washington, *En Banc*, held that a real estate appraiser hired by the Veterans Administration (VA) owes a duty of care to third parties. *Schaaf v. Highfield*, 127 Wash. 2d 17, 19, 896 P.2d 665, 666 (1995).

In *Schaaf*, the plaintiff, a veteran, purchased a home with a loan guaranteed by the VA. *Id.* After purchasing the home, the plaintiff was deployed to the Persian Gulf; however, when he returned from deployment to the home he had purchased he discovered that a leak in the roof had left stains down the walls of the hallway entrance and ruined the carpet in the stairway landing and caused the carpet to develop a bad smelling odor. *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 19, 896 P.2d at 667. The plaintiff then filed a verified complaint suing the VA-hired appraiser and others. *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 20, 896 P.2d at 667. The trial court granted the VA-hired appraiser's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* In *Schaff*, the plaintiff eventually filed a notice of appeal directly to the Supreme Court of Washington, and the court accepted direct review. *Id.*

At the time of the plaintiff's appeal in *Schaff*, no State of Washington Appellate Court had resolved the issue of whether an appraiser owes a duty of care to third parties. *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 23, 896 P.2d at 668. However, after acknowledging that past Washington cases had cited the Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552 with approval, the Supreme Court of Washington concluded that "Section 552 applies to a real estate appraiser," such as a VA-hired appraiser, who "in the course of his business, profession or employment. . . supplies false information for the guidance of others in their business transactions." *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 23, 896 P.2d at 667.

The Supreme Court of Washington then considered to what extent the duty of a VA-hired appraiser extends to third parties not in privity with the appraiser. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Washington found "under Section 552, lack of privity is no defense to a claim of negligent

misrepresentation;” however, “only those in a limited class may advance such claims.” *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 26, 896 P.2d at 670. The Supreme Court of Washington then examined whether the plaintiff who had relied on the VA-hired appraiser’s report qualified as a member of the limited class permitted to advance a claim of negligent misrepresentation against the VA-hired appraiser for its production of a negligent report. *Id.*

The Supreme Court of Washington reasoned that since Schaff, the plaintiff, was a prospective home buyer who had applied to the VA for a loan guaranty, and the VA hired the VA-Appraiser solely because of Schaff’s application, Schaff was the most proximal third party there would ever be to the VA-hired appraiser’s report. *Id.* In other words, if the VA-hired appraiser’s liability did not extend to Schaff, then no other third party would ever have a cause of action against the appraiser. Thus, the court ruled that Schaff was a member of the limited class that could pursue a negligent misrepresentation claim against the VA-hired appraiser. *Id.* Ultimately, the Supreme Court of Washington ruled in Schaff’s favor, and held that a third party may state a claim for negligent misrepresentation against a real estate appraiser pursuant to Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 552, and that “[t]he liability of a real estate appraiser in these circumstances extends only to those involved in the transaction that triggered the appraisal report, including but not limited, to the buyer and the seller.” *Id.* 127 Wash. 2d. at 27, 896 P.2d at 670.

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