RECEIVED

May 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-17-00017

Appellate Case No. 2025-002362

John Hamilton and Erin Hamilton Appellants,

v.

David McLaurin and David McLaurin Appraiser, LLC Respondent[s].

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jonathan G. Roquemore (SC Bar No. 68274)
Paul E. Allen, Jr. (SC Bar No.: 104062)
Travis Redd (SC Bar No.: 106420)
Hedrick Gardner Kincheloe & Garofalo LLP
1230 Main Street, Suite 325
Columbia, SC 29201

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Correctly Applied South Carolina Precedent When It Dismissed Appellants’ Negligence and Negligent Misrepresentation Claims Against McLaurin.

This Court’s decision in *Robertson v. First Union National Bank*, 350 S.C. 339, 350, 565 S.E.2d 309, 315 (Ct. App. 2002), controls this appeal. A lender-retained appraiser owes no duty of care to prospective purchasers; and without duty, neither a negligence nor a negligent misrepresentation claim can survive a motion to dismiss. Appellants’ argument on appeal misses the mark and conflates the elements of duty of care on the one hand, and justifiable reliance on the other. McLaurin was employed on behalf of Appellants’ lender, and any duty of care owed by McLaurin flowed to the lender, not Appellants. The circuit court correctly concluded that Appellants’ claims for negligence and negligent misrepresentation against McLaurin “fail for the absence of the duty of care element.” This Court should affirm.

A. The absence of the duty of care element required dismissal of Appellants’ negligence and negligent misrepresentation claims against McLaurin.

To recover on a claim for negligence, whether the claim is for simple negligence or negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff “must show (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach.” *Tanner v. Florence County Treasurer*, 336 S.C. 552, 561, 521 S.E.2d 153, 158 (1999) (quoting *Andrews v. Piedmont Air Lines*, 297 S.C. 367, 369, 377 S.E.2d 127, 128

(1989)). “The absence of any one of these elements renders the cause of action insufficient.” *Andrews*, 297 S.C. at 369, 377 S.E.2d at 128–29. The existence of a duty of care is a question of law for the court. *Houck v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 366 S.C. 7, 11–12, 620 S.E.2d 326, 329 (2005).

To establish liability for negligent misrepresentation, the plaintiff must show: “(1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the representation; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.” *AMA Mgmt. Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 222, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992).

In *Robertson v. First Union National Bank*, this Court affirmed the dismissal of a plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation claim against an appraiser in connection with the purchase of real property. 350 S.C. 339, 350, 565 S.E.2d 309, 315 (Ct. App. 2002). As in this case, the appraisal in *Robertson* was performed for the bank’s benefit after the parties had already agreed to a contract price for the property. *Id.* The Court held that, under those circumstances, the appraiser owed no duty of care to the purchasers. *Id.*

Here, as in *Robertson*, Respondents were hired by the lender to perform an appraisal solely for purposes of mortgage financing. (R. 53). The first page of the Appraisal identifies the document as an “Appraisal Report of the real property located at 404 Watson Hill Ln, Chesterfield, SC 29709 **for Coast2Coast Mortgage/VA.**” (R. 52) (emphasis added). The first line on the second page of the Appraisal could not be clearer in stating that the purpose of the Appraisal is to “provide the

lender/client with an accurate, and adequately supported, opinion of the market value of the subject property.” (*Id.*).

Appellants’ own allegations confirm that McLaurin was retained exclusively on behalf of Appellants’ lender. The Appraisal expressly identifies the lender—not the prospective purchasers—as the intended user, and states that its intended use is to assist the lender/client in evaluating the property for a mortgage finance transaction. (R. 55). Appellants were neither McLaurin’s clients nor the intended users of the Appraisal. Under these circumstances, Appellants have failed to allege facts giving rise to a duty of care, and the circuit court correctly concluded that their claims against McLaurin fail as a matter of law.

B. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 does not create a duty of care owed by McLaurin under South Carolina law.

Appellants ask this Court to extend potential liability for negligent misrepresentation claims to include non-contracting third parties under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552. This Court should deny Appellants’ request and affirm the circuit court’s order of dismissal as to McLaurin.

The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 provides,

(1) One who, in the course of his business, profession or employment, or in any other transaction in which he has a pecuniary interest, supplies false information for the guidance of others in their business transactions, is subject to liability for pecuniary loss caused to them by their justifiable reliance upon the information, if he fails to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining or communicating the information.

(2) Except as stated in Subsection (3), the liability stated in Subsection (1) is limited to loss suffered

(a) by the person or one of a limited group of persons for whose benefit and guidance he intends to supply the information or knows that the recipient intends to supply it; and

(b) through reliance upon it in a transaction that he intends the information to influence or knows that the recipient so intends or in a substantially similar transaction.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 (1977).

Appellants contend that South Carolina should apply § 552 to extend potential liability to appraisers who are hired by a third-party, such as a prospective lender for a mortgage, so long as the plaintiff alleges they relied on the appraisal to their detriment. But South Carolina has never extended potential liability so far as to obviate the language contained in the appraisal itself, particularly where such language clearly and explicitly identifies the intended user of the information.

While South Carolina has applied Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 to find a duty of care is owed to non-contracting third parties in certain professional contexts, this Court recently noted that South Carolina's application of § 552 has been limited to the accounting and consulting contexts. *Gecy v. S.C. Bank & Trust*, 422 S.C. 509, 519, 812 S.E.2d 750, 756 (Ct. App. 2018) (noting "South Carolina has applied § 552 to non-contracting third-parties only in the accounting and consulting contexts"). In *Gecy*, this Court denied a similar request to extend liability under § 552 to include allegedly false information provided to a third-party because the purpose of imposing liability under § 552 was to "prevent the supplying of 'false information for the guidance of others in their business transactions.'" *Id.* In other words, § 552 liability is **not** intended to protect a non-contracting third party who was not the intended recipient of the information, like Appellants in this case.

Even if South Carolina adopted § 552 in its entirety, the subsection (2) limitations are fatal to Appellants' claims. Subsection (2)(a) limits liability to persons "for whose benefit and guidance" the supplier *intends* to supply the information. Here, McLaurin expressly stated in the Appraisal

that it was prepared for the lender/client to evaluate the subject property for a mortgage finance transaction. (R. 55). McLaurin did not intend to supply the Appraisal for Appellants' benefit and guidance in identifying structural defects. Subsection (2)(b) further limits liability to transactions that the supplier intends the information to influence. The Appraisal was intended to influence the lender's decision about mortgage financing—not to inform Appellants about whether the Property had structural deficiencies. (R. 55).

The Fourth Circuit's analysis in *Priv. Mortg. Inv. Servs., Inc. v. Hotel & Club Assocs., Inc.*, 296 F.3d 308 (4th Cir. 2002), does not advance Appellants' position. There, the Fourth Circuit predicted that the South Carolina Supreme Court would extend § 552 liability to real estate appraisers in the event a third party detrimentally relied on a “materially inaccurate and negligent appraisal of the ‘as is’ market value” of the property. *Id.* at 314–15 (emphasis added). Appellants do not allege that the market value opinion in the Appraisal was inaccurate. Rather, Appellants allege that McLaurin failed to identify structural defects, which is a fundamentally different claim and falls well outside the scope of the *Private Mortgage* court's analysis.¹

Appellants also cite to the Washington Supreme Court's decision in *Schaaf v. Highfield*, 127 Wash. 2d 17, 896 P.2d 665 (1995), which applied § 552 to hold that a VA-hired appraiser owed a duty of care to a prospective purchaser. Critically, however, the *Schaaf* court still affirmed summary judgment for the appraiser because the plaintiff failed to demonstrate justifiable reliance—precisely the element that is a question of law in this case. *Id.* at 28–29, 896 P.2d at 670–71. And the Washington court reached its holding without the benefit of South Carolina's controlling precedent in *Robertson*, which this Court decided in 2002 and which squarely

¹ *Private Mortgage* was decided approximately two months after this Court's decision in *Robertson* but did not cite to or consider *Robertson*.

forecloses Appellants' duty argument. This Court is bound by its own precedent, not by an out-of-state decision addressing a different state's common law.

Appellants contend that allegations of detrimental reliance are sufficient to create a duty of care owed by McLaurin. Specifically, Appellants rely on a provision stating that “[t]he borrower, another lender at the request of the borrower, the mortgagee or its successors and assigns, mortgage insurers, government sponsored enterprises, and other secondary market participants may rely on this appraisal report **as part of any mortgage finance transaction** that involves any one or more of these parties.” (R. 74-75) (emphasis added). This argument misses the mark and ignores the clear, unambiguous language in the Appraisal.

First, Appellants claim of justifiable reliance on the Appraisal does not mean the Appraiser Defendants owed a duty of care to convey information about the structural integrity of the Property. The Appraiser Defendants' observations about the physical condition of the Property are incidental to the primary purpose of the Appraisal—to provide an adequately supported market value of the Property.

Second, the Appraiser Defendants do not suggest Appellants would not be entitled to rely on the Appraisal “**as part of any mortgage finance transaction**” for the purchase of the Property. (R. 74-75). Appellants would of course be entitled to rely on the Appraisal for “an accurate, and adequately supported, opinion of the market value of the subject property.” But Appellants may not rely on the Appraisal to support a negligent misrepresentation claim for alleged defects in the physical condition of the Property when the Appraisal clearly cautions that it is not a substitute for a home inspection. By its express terms, the Appraisal permits reliance by a borrower only in connection with a mortgage finance transaction. It does not purport to vouch for the physical condition of the Property or to identify latent defects, and it expressly disclaims any such function.

Reliance on the appraisal for purposes beyond its stated, limited use cannot create a duty where South Carolina law otherwise recognizes none.

C. The VA Minimum Property Requirements do not create a duty of care owed by McLaurin to Appellants.

Appellants rely heavily on Minimum Property Requirements published by the VA in connection with VA-backed loans. According to Appellants, “the failure to follow governmental or industry standards,” like the Minimum Property Requirements, “may be the basis for a claim of negligence.” But this argument misconstrues South Carolina negligence law and the role of the Minimum Property Requirements.

To recover on a negligence claim, a plaintiff must first plead sufficient facts to establish that the defendant owed her a duty of care. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 221, 644 S.E.2d 740, 746 (Ct. App. 2007). The existence of a duty is a question of law for the court to decide. *Id.* If a plaintiff pleads sufficient facts to establish a duty of care was owed, the court must also “formulate the standard of conduct to which the duty requires the defendant to conform.” *Doe ex rel. Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 240, 247, 711 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2011). Stated differently, the duty element in a negligence claim is effectively a two-step analysis. The court must first determine if a duty exists under South Carolina common law, statute, or other special relationship between the injured party and the tortfeasor. If a duty exists, the court must formulate the standard of care to which the duty requires the defendant to conform. The standard of care may be established by “common law, statutes, administrative regulations, industry standards, or a defendant's own policies and guidelines.” *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 140, 638 S.E.2d 650, 659 (2006) (citing *Peterson v. Natl. R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 397, 618 S.E.2d 903, 906 (2005)).

The circuit court correctly determined that Appellants' negligence claim fails as a matter of law because the Complaint did not plead sufficient facts to establish that McLaurin owed a duty of care. The Minimum Property Requirements do not themselves establish a duty of care owed by McLaurin to Appellants because a tortfeasor's duty "arises from his relationship to the injured party." The circuit court did not consider the Minimum Property Requirements because the relationship between McLaurin and Appellants was not one "recognized by law as the foundation of a duty of care." In fact, the relationship between McLaurin and Appellants is a rare example of one where South Carolina law explicitly does not recognize a duty of care owed. The existence of the Minimum Property Requirements and McLaurin's reference to them in the Appraisal do not create a duty of care where the law otherwise recognizes none.

Appellants cite *Elledge v. Richland/Lexington School District Five*, 352 S.C. 179, 573 S.E.2d 789 (2002), for the proposition that government standards, like the Minimum Property Requirements, independently impose a duty of care where one may not otherwise exist. This proposition is unsupported by *Elledge* or the authority cited therein.

In *Elledge*, a nine-year-old student sued her school district after sustaining serious injuries in an accident on the playground of the school she attended. The student claimed the school district was negligent in failing to purchase and maintain reasonably safe playground equipment. *Id.* at 182, 573 S.E.2d at 791. The student sought to introduce evidence of industry standards for playground equipment and testimony from the district's purchasing coordinator related to the district's policy for purchasing playground equipment. *Id.* The trial court excluded the evidence, and the district ultimately obtained a defense verdict. *Id.* at 183-84, 573 S.E.2d at 791-92.

The *Elledge* trial court's evidentiary rulings were reversed on appeal. The issue on appeal was whether the evidence of industry standards and district policy was erroneously excluded as

evidence of the district's standard of care. *Id.* at 186, 573 S.E.2d at 793. Our Supreme Court affirmed this Court's reversal, finding the excluded evidence was "highly probative on the issue of defining the District's duty of care." *Id.* Neither of our appellate courts addressed whether the district owed the student a duty in the first instance because the district didn't raise the issue.

Here, the circuit court correctly found McLaurin did not owe Appellants a duty of care as a matter of South Carolina common law based on the factual allegations in the complaint. Without a duty, evidence relating to any purported standard of care plays no role in the analysis. *Doe ex rel. Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 240, 247, 711 S.E.2d 908, 912 ("It follows that, if no duty has been established, evidence as to the standard of care is irrelevant. Only when there is a duty would a standard of care need to be established."). Put simply, the Minimum Property requirements would only be relevant to the analysis if McLaurin owed a duty of care in the first place, which it did not. This Court should affirm.

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